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the obligations imposed by 8 U.S.C. 
1188, 20 CFR part 655, subpart B, or the 
regulations in this part. Each failure to 
pay an individual worker properly or to 
honor the terms or conditions of a 
worker’s employment required by 8 
U.S.C. 1188, 20 CFR part 655, subpart B, 
or the regulations in this part constitutes 
a separate violation. 

(b) In determining the amount of 
penalty to be assessed for each 
violation, the WHD Administrator shall 
consider the type of violation 
committed and other relevant factors. 
The factors that may be considered 
include, but are not limited to, the 
following: 

(1) Previous history of violation(s) of 
8 U.S.C. 1188, 20 CFR part 655, subpart 
B, or the regulations in this part; 

(2) The number of H–2A workers, 
workers in corresponding employment, 
or U.S. workers who were and/or are 
affected by the violation(s); 

(3) The gravity of the violation(s); 
(4) Efforts made in good faith to 

comply with 8 U.S.C. 1188, 20 CFR part 
655, subpart B, and the regulations in 
this part; 

(5) Explanation from the person 
charged with the violation(s); 

(6) Commitment to future compliance, 
taking into account the public health, 
interest or safety, and whether the 
person has previously violated 8 U.S.C. 
1188; 

(7) The extent to which the violator 
achieved a financial gain due to the 
violation, or the potential financial loss 
or potential injury to the workers. 

(c) A civil money penalty for each 
violation of the work contract or a 
requirement of 8 U.S.C. 1188, 20 CFR 
part 655, subpart B, or the regulations in 
this part will not exceed $1,500 per 
violation, with the following exceptions: 

(1) A civil money penalty for each 
willful violation of the work contract, or 
of 8 U.S.C. 1188, 20 CFR part 655, 
subpart B, or the regulations in this part, 
or for each act of discrimination 
prohibited by § 501.4 shall not exceed 
$5,000; 

(2) A civil money penalty for a 
violation of a housing or transportation 
safety and health provision of the work 
contract, or any obligation under 8 
U.S.C. 1188, 20 CFR part 655, subpart B, 
or the regulations in this part, that 
proximately causes the death or serious 
injury of any worker shall not exceed 
$50,000 per worker; 

(3) For purposes of this section, the 
term serious injury includes, but is not 
limited to: 

(i) Permanent loss or substantial 
impairment of one of the senses (sight, 
hearing, taste, smell, tactile sensation); 

(ii) Permanent loss or substantial 
impairment of the function of a bodily 
member, organ or mental faculty, 
including the loss of all or part of an 
arm, leg, foot, hand or other body part; 
or 

(iii) Permanent paralysis or 
substantial impairment that causes loss 
of movement or mobility of an arm, leg, 
foot, hand or other body part. 

(4) A civil money penalty for a repeat 
or willful violation of a housing or 
transportation safety and health 
provision of the work contract, or any 
obligation under 8 U.S.C. 1188, 20 CFR 
part 655, subpart B, or the regulations in 
this part, that proximately causes the 
death or serious injury of any worker, 
shall not exceed $100,000 per worker. 

(d) A civil money penalty for failure 
to cooperate with a WHD investigation 
shall not exceed $5,000 per 
investigation. 

(e) A civil money penalty for laying 
off or displacing any U.S. worker 
employed in work or activities that are 
encompassed by the approved 
Application for Temporary Employment 
Certification for H–2A workers in the 
area of intended employment either 
within 60 days preceding the date of 
need or during the validity period of the 
job order, including any approved 
extension thereof, other than for a 
lawful, job-related reason, shall not 
exceed $15,000 per violation per 
worker. 

(f) A civil money penalty for 
improperly rejecting a U.S. worker who 
is an applicant for employment, in 
violation of 8 U.S.C. 1188, 20 CFR part 
655, subpart B, or the regulations in this 
part, shall not exceed $15,000 per 
violation per worker. 

§ 501.20 Debarment and revocation. 
(a) Debarment of an employer. The 

WHD Administrator may debar an 
employer or any successor in interest to 
that employer from receiving future 
labor certifications under 20 CFR part 
655, subpart B, subject to the time limits 
set forth in paragraph (c) of this section, 
if: the WHD Administrator finds that the 
employer substantially violated a 
material term or condition of its 
temporary labor certification, with 
respect to H–2A workers, workers in 
corresponding employment, or U.S. 
workers improperly rejected for 
employment, or improperly laid off or 
displaced, by issuing a Notice of 
Debarment. 

(b) Debarment of an agent or an 
attorney. The WHD Administrator may 
debar an agent or attorney from 
participating in any action under 8 
U.S.C. 1188, 20 CFR part 655, subpart B 
or 29 CFR part 501, if the WHD 

Administrator finds that the agent or 
attorney participated in an employer’s 
substantial violation, by issuing a Notice 
of Debarment. The OFLC Administrator 
may not issue future labor certifications 
to any employer represented by a 
debarred agent or attorney, subject to 
the time limits set forth in paragraph (c) 
of this section. 

(c) Statute of Limitations and Period 
of Debarment. 

(1) The WHD Administrator must 
issue any Notice of Debarment no later 
than 2 years after the occurrence of the 
violation. 

(2) No employer, attorney, or agent 
may be debarred under this subpart for 
more than 3 years from the date of the 
final agency decision. 

(d) Definition of violation. For the 
purposes of this section, a violation 
includes: 

(1) One or more acts of commission or 
omission on the part of the employer or 
the employer’s agent which involve: 

(i) Failure to pay or provide the 
required wages, benefits or working 
conditions to the employer’s H–2A 
workers and/or workers in 
corresponding employment; 

(ii) Failure, except for lawful, job- 
related reasons, to offer employment to 
qualified U.S. workers who applied for 
the job opportunity for which 
certification was sought; 

(iii) Failure to comply with the 
employer’s obligations to recruit U.S. 
workers; 

(iv) Improper layoff or displacement 
of U.S. workers or workers in 
corresponding employment; 

(v) Failure to comply with one or 
more sanctions or remedies imposed by 
the WHD Administrator for violation(s) 
of contractual or other H–2A 
obligations, or with one or more 
decisions or orders of the Secretary or 
a court under 8 U.S.C. 1188, 20 CFR part 
655, subpart B, or the regulations in this 
part; 

(vi) Impeding an investigation of an 
employer under 8 U.S.C. 1188, 20 CFR 
part 655, Subpart B, or the regulations 
in this part; 

(vii) Employing an H–2A worker 
outside the area of intended 
employment, or in an activity/activities 
not listed in the job order or outside the 
validity period of employment of the job 
order, including any approved 
extension thereof; 

(viii) A violation of the requirements 
of 20 CFR 655.135(j) or (k); 

(ix) A violation of any of the 
provisions listed in § 501.4(a) of this 
subpart; or 

(x) A single heinous act showing such 
flagrant disregard for the law that future 
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compliance with program requirements 
cannot reasonably be expected. 

(2) In determining whether a violation 
is so substantial as to merit debarment, 
the factors set forth in § 501.19(b) shall 
be considered. 

(e) Procedural Requirements. The 
Notice of Debarment must be in writing, 
must state the reason for the debarment 
finding, including a detailed 
explanation of the grounds for and the 
duration of the debarment, must 
identify appeal opportunities under 
§ 501.33 and a timeframe under which 
such rights must be exercised and must 
comply with § 501.32. The debarment 
will take effect 30 days from the date the 
Notice of Debarment is issued, unless a 
request for review is properly filed 
within 30 days from the issuance of the 
Notice of Debarment. The timely filing 
of an administrative appeal stays the 
debarment pending the outcome of the 
appeal as provided in § 501.33(d). 

(f) Debarment involving members of 
associations. If, after investigation, the 
WHD Administrator determines that an 
individual employer-member of a joint 
employer association has committed a 
substantial violation, the debarment 
determination will apply only to that 
member unless the WHD Administrator 
determines that the association or 
another association member 
participated in the violation, in which 
case the debarment will be invoked 
against the association or other 
complicit association member(s) as well. 

(g) Debarment involving associations 
acting as sole employers. If, after 
investigation, the WHD Administrator 
determines that an association acting as 
a sole employer has committed a 
substantial violation, the debarment 
determination will apply only to the 
association and any successor in interest 
to the debarred association. 

(h) Debarment involving associations 
acting as joint employers. If, after 
investigation, the WHD Administrator 
determines that an association acting as 
a joint employer with its members has 
committed a substantial violation, the 
debarment determination will apply 
only to the association, and will not be 
applied to any individual employer- 
member of the association. However, if 
the WHD Administrator determines that 
the member participated in, had 
knowledge of, or had reason to know of 
the violation, the debarment may be 
invoked against the complicit 
association member as well. An 
association debarred from the H–2A 
temporary labor certification program 
will not be permitted to continue to file 
as a joint employer with its members 
during the period of the debarment. 

(i) Revocation. The WHD may 
recommend to the OFLC Administrator 
the revocation of a temporary 
agricultural labor certification if the 
WHD finds that the employer: 

(1) Substantially violated a material 
term or condition of the approved 
temporary labor certification. 

(2) Failed to cooperate with a DOL 
investigation or with a DOL official 
performing an investigation, inspection, 
or law enforcement function under 8 
U.S.C. 1188, 20 CFR part 655, subpart B, 
or this part; or 

(3) Failed to comply with one or more 
sanctions or remedies imposed by the 
WHD, or with one or more decisions or 
orders of the Secretary or a court order 
secured by the Secretary under 8 U.S.C. 
1188, 20 CFR part 655, subpart B, or this 
part. 

§ 501.21 Failure to cooperate with 
investigations. 

(a) No person shall refuse to cooperate 
with any employee of the Secretary who 
is exercising or attempting to exercise 
this investigative or enforcement 
authority. 

(b) Where an employer (or employer’s 
agent or attorney) does not cooperate 
with an investigation concerning the 
employment of an H–2A worker, a 
worker in corresponding employment, 
or a U.S. worker who has been 
improperly rejected for employment or 
improperly laid off or displaced, WHD 
may make such information available to 
OFLC and may recommend that OFLC 
revoke the existing certification that is 
the basis for the employment of the H– 
2A workers giving rise to the 
investigation. In addition, WHD may 
take such action as appropriate, 
including initiating proceedings for the 
debarment of the employer from future 
certification for up to 3 years, seeking an 
injunction, and/or assessing civil money 
penalties against any person who has 
failed to cooperate with a WHD 
investigation. The taking of any one 
action shall not bar the taking of any 
additional action. 

§ 501.22 Civil money penalties—payment 
and collection. 

Where a civil money penalty is 
assessed in a final order by the WHD 
Administrator, by an ALJ, or by the 
Administrative Review Board (ARB), the 
amount of the penalty must be received 
by the WHD Administrator within 30 
days of the date of the final order. The 
person assessed such penalty shall remit 
the amount ordered to the WHD 
Administrator by certified check or by 
money order, made payable to the Wage 
and Hour Division, United States 
Department of Labor. The remittance 

shall be delivered or mailed to the WHD 
Regional Office for the area in which the 
violations occurred. 

Subpart C—Administrative 
Proceedings 

§ 501.30 Applicability of procedures and 
rules. 

The procedures and rules contained 
herein prescribe the administrative 
process that will be applied with respect 
to a determination to assess civil money 
penalties, to debar, or to increase the 
amount of a surety bond and which may 
be applied to the enforcement of 
provisions of the work contract, or 
obligations under 8 U.S.C. 1188, 20 CFR 
part 655, subpart B, or the regulations in 
this part, or to the collection of 
monetary relief due as a result of any 
violation. Except with respect to the 
imposition of civil money penalties, 
debarment, or an increase in the amount 
of a surety bond, the Secretary may, in 
the Secretary’s discretion, seek 
enforcement action in Federal court 
without resort to any administrative 
proceedings. 

Procedures Relating To Hearing 

§ 501.31 Written notice of determination 
required. 

Whenever the WHD Administrator 
decides to assess a civil money penalty, 
to debar, to increase a surety bond, or 
to proceed administratively to enforce 
contractual obligations, or obligations 
under 8 U.S.C. 1188, 20 CFR part 655, 
subpart B, or the regulations in this part, 
including for the recovery of the 
monetary relief, the person against 
whom such action is taken shall be 
notified in writing of such 
determination. 

§ 501.32 Contents of notice. 

The notice required by § 501.31 shall: 
(a) Set forth the determination of the 

WHD Administrator including the 
amount of any monetary relief due or 
actions necessary to fulfill a contractual 
obligation or obligations under 8 U.S.C. 
1188, 20 CFR part 655, subpart B, or the 
regulations in this part, the amount of 
any civil money penalty assessment, 
whether debarment is sought and the 
term, and any change in the amount of 
the surety bond, and the reason or 
reasons therefor. 

(b) Set forth the right to request a 
hearing on such determination. 

(c) Inform any affected person or 
persons that in the absence of a timely 
request for a hearing, the determination 
of the WHD Administrator shall become 
final and unappealable. 
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(d) Set forth the time and method for 
requesting a hearing, and the procedures 
relating thereto, as set forth in § 501.33. 

§ 501.33 Request for hearing. 
(a) Any person desiring review of a 

determination referred to in § 501.32, 
including judicial review, shall make a 
written request for an administrative 
hearing to the official who issued the 
determination at the WHD address 
appearing on the determination notice, 
no later than 30 days after the date of 
issuance of the notice referred to in 
§ 501.32. 

(b) No particular form is prescribed 
for any request for hearing permitted by 
this part. However, any such request 
shall: 

(1) Be typewritten or legibly written; 
(2) Specify the issue or issues stated 

in the notice of determination giving 
rise to such request; 

(3) State the specific reason or reasons 
why the person requesting the hearing 
believes such determination is in error; 

(4) Be signed by the person making 
the request or by an authorized 
representative of such person; and 

(5) Include the address at which such 
person or authorized representative 
desires to receive further 
communications relating thereto. 

(c) The request for such hearing must 
be received by the official who issued 
the determination, at the WHD address 
appearing on the determination notice, 
within the time set forth in paragraph 
(a) of this section. Requests may be 
made by certified mail or by means 
normally assuring overnight delivery. 

(d) The determination shall take effect 
on the start date identified in the 
written notice of determination, unless 
an administrative appeal is properly 
filed. The timely filing of an 
administrative appeal stays the 
determination pending the outcome of 
the appeal proceedings, provided that 
any surety bond remains in effect until 
the conclusion of any such proceedings. 

Rules of Practice 

§ 501.34 General. 
(a) Except as specifically provided in 

the regulations in this part, the Rules of 
Practice and Procedure for 
Administrative Hearings Before the 
Office of Administrative Law Judges 
established by the Secretary at 29 CFR 
part 18 shall apply to administrative 
proceedings described in this part. 

(b) As provided in the Administrative 
Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. 556, any oral or 
documentary evidence may be received 
in proceedings under this part. The 
Federal Rules of Evidence and subpart 
B of the Rules of Practice and Procedure 
for Administrative Hearings Before the 

Office of Administrative Law Judges (29 
CFR part 18, subpart B) will not apply, 
but principles designed to ensure 
production of relevant and probative 
evidence shall guide the admission of 
evidence. The ALJ may exclude 
evidence which is immaterial, 
irrelevant, or unduly repetitive. 

§ 501.35 Commencement of proceeding. 
Each administrative proceeding 

permitted under 8 U.S.C. 1188 and the 
regulations in this part shall be 
commenced upon receipt of a timely 
request for hearing filed in accordance 
with § 501.33. 

§ 501.36 Caption of proceeding. 
(a) Each administrative proceeding 

instituted under 8 U.S.C. 1188 and the 
regulations in this part shall be 
captioned in the name of the person 
requesting such hearing, and shall be 
styled as follows: 

In the Matter of llllll, 
Respondent. 

(b) For the purposes of such 
administrative proceedings the WHD 
Administrator shall be identified as 
plaintiff and the person requesting such 
hearing shall be named as respondent. 

Referral for Hearing 

§ 501.37 Referral to Administrative Law 
Judge. 

(a) Upon receipt of a timely request 
for a hearing filed pursuant to and in 
accordance with § 501.33, the WHD 
Administrator, by the Associate 
Solicitor for the Division of Fair Labor 
Standards or by the Regional Solicitor 
for the Region in which the action arose, 
will, by Order of Reference, promptly 
refer a copy of the notice of 
administrative determination 
complained of, and the original or a 
duplicate copy of the request for hearing 
signed by the person requesting such 
hearing or by the authorized 
representative of such person, to the 
Chief ALJ, for a determination in an 
administrative proceeding as provided 
herein. The notice of administrative 
determination and request for hearing 
shall be filed of record in the Office of 
the Chief Administrative Law Judge and 
shall, respectively, be given the effect of 
a complaint and answer thereto for 
purposes of the administrative 
proceeding, subject to any amendment 
that may be permitted under the 
regulations in this part or 29 CFR part 
18. 

(b) A copy of the Order of Reference, 
together with a copy of the regulations 
in this part, shall be served by counsel 
for the WHD Administrator upon the 
person requesting the hearing, in the 
manner provided in 29 CFR 18.3. 

§ 501.38 Notice of docketing. 
Upon receipt of an Order of 

Reference, the Chief ALJ shall appoint 
an ALJ to hear the case. The ALJ shall 
promptly notify all interested parties of 
the docketing of the matter and shall set 
the time and place of the hearing. The 
date of the hearing shall be not more 
than 60 days from the date on which the 
Order of Reference was filed. 

§ 501.39 Service upon attorneys for the 
Department of Labor—number of copies. 

Two copies of all pleadings and other 
documents required for any 
administrative proceeding provided 
herein shall be served on the attorneys 
for the DOL. One copy shall be served 
on the Associate Solicitor, Division of 
Fair Labor Standards, Office of the 
Solicitor, U.S. Department of Labor, 200 
Constitution Avenue, NW., Washington, 
DC 20210, and one copy on the Attorney 
representing the Department in the 
proceeding. 

Procedures Before Administrative Law 
Judge 

§ 501.40 Consent findings and order. 
(a) General. At any time after the 

commencement of a proceeding under 
this part, but prior to the reception of 
evidence in any such proceeding, a 
party may move to defer the receipt of 
any evidence for a reasonable time to 
permit negotiation of an agreement 
containing consent findings and an 
order disposing of the whole or any part 
of the proceeding. The allowance of 
such deferment and the duration thereof 
shall be at the discretion of the ALJ, 
after consideration of the nature of the 
proceeding, the requirements of the 
public interest, the representations of 
the parties, and the probability of an 
agreement being reached which will 
result in a just disposition of the issues 
involved. 

(b) Content. Any agreement 
containing consent findings and an 
order disposing of a proceeding or any 
part thereof shall also provide: 

(1) That the order shall have the same 
force and effect as an order made after 
full hearing; 

(2) That the entire record on which 
any order may be based shall consist 
solely of the notice of administrative 
determination (or amended notice, if 
one is filed), and the agreement; 

(3) A waiver of any further procedural 
steps before the ALJ; and 

(4) A waiver of any right to challenge 
or contest the validity of the findings 
and order entered into in accordance 
with the agreement. 

(c) Submission. On or before the 
expiration of the time granted for 
negotiations, the parties or their 
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authorized representatives or their 
counsel may: 

(1) Submit the proposed agreement for 
consideration by the ALJ; or 

(2) Inform the ALJ that agreement 
cannot be reached. 

(d) Disposition. In the event an 
agreement containing consent findings 
and an order is submitted within the 
time allowed therefor, the ALJ, within 
30 days thereafter, shall, if satisfied with 
its form and substance, accept such 
agreement by issuing a decision based 
upon the agreed findings. 

Post-Hearing Procedures 

§ 501.41 Decision and order of 
Administrative Law Judge. 

(a) The ALJ shall prepare, within 60 
days after completion of the hearing and 
closing of the record, a decision on the 
issues referred by the WHD 
Administrator. 

(b) The decision of the ALJ shall 
include a statement of the findings and 
conclusions, with reasons and basis 
therefor, upon each material issue 
presented on the record. The decision 
shall also include an appropriate order 
which may affirm, deny, reverse, or 
modify, in whole or in part, the 
determination of the WHD 
Administrator. The reason or reasons for 
such order shall be stated in the 
decision. 

(c) The decision shall be served on all 
parties and the ARB. 

(d) The decision concerning civil 
money penalties, debarment, monetary 
relief, and/or enforcement of other 
contractual obligations under 8 U.S.C. 
1188, 20 CFR part 655, subpart B, and/ 
or this part, when served by the ALJ 
shall constitute the final agency order 
unless the ARB, as provided for in 

§ 501.42, determines to review the 
decision. 

Review of Administrative Law Judge’s 
Decision 

§ 501.42 Procedures for initiating and 
undertaking review. 

(a) A respondent, the WHD, or any 
other party wishing review, including 
judicial review, of the decision of an 
ALJ shall, within 30 days of the decision 
of the ALJ, petition the ARB to review 
the decision. Copies of the petition shall 
be served on all parties and on the ALJ. 
If the ARB does not issue a notice 
accepting a petition for review of the 
decision within 30 days after receipt of 
a timely filing of the petition, or within 
30 days of the date of the decision if no 
petition has been received, the decision 
of the ALJ shall be deemed the final 
agency action. 

(b) Whenever the ARB, either on the 
ARB’s own motion or by acceptance of 
a party’s petition, determines to review 
the decision of an ALJ, a notice of the 
same shall be served upon the ALJ and 
upon all parties to the proceeding. 

§ 501.43 Responsibility of the Office of 
Administrative Law Judges (OALJ). 

Upon receipt of the ARB’s Notice 
pursuant to § 501.42, the OALJ shall 
promptly forward a copy of the 
complete hearing record to the ARB. 

§ 501.44 Additional information, if 
required. 

Where the ARB has determined to 
review such decision and order, the 
ARB shall notify the parties of: 

(a) The issue or issues raised; 
(b) The form in which submissions 

shall be made (i.e., briefs, oral argument, 
etc.); and 

(c) The time within which such 
presentation shall be submitted. 

§ 501.45 Final decision of the 
Administrative Review Board. 

The ARB’s final decision shall be 
issued within 90 days from the notice 
granting the petition and served upon 
all parties and the ALJ. 

Record 

§ 501.46 Retention of official record. 

The official record of every completed 
administrative hearing provided by the 
regulations in this part shall be 
maintained and filed under the custody 
and control of the Chief ALJ, or, where 
the case has been the subject of 
administrative review, the ARB. 

§ 501.47 Certification. 

Upon receipt of a complaint seeking 
review of a decision issued pursuant to 
this part filed in a U.S. District Court, 
after the administrative remedies have 
been exhausted, the Chief ALJ or, where 
the case has been the subject of 
administrative review, the ARB shall 
promptly index, certify and file with the 
appropriate U.S. District Court, a full, 
true, and correct copy of the entire 
record, including the transcript of 
proceedings. 

Signed in Washington this 3rd day of 
February, 2010. 

Jane Oates, 
Assistant Secretary, Employment and 
Training Administration. 
Nancy Leppink, 
Deputy Administrator, Wage and Hour 
Division. 

Editorial Note: The following attachment 
will not appear in the Code of Federal 
Regulations. 

BILLING CODE 4510–FN–P 
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